ARTICLE IN PRESS

Biological Conservation xxx (2010) xxx-xxx

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Biological Conservation

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/biocon



Review The science and application of ecological monitoring

David B. Lindenmayer^{a,*}, Gene E. Likens^{a,b}

^a Fenner School of Environment and Society, WK Hancock Building (43), The Australian National University, Canberra, ACT 0200, Australia ^b Cary Institute of Ecosystem Studies, Millbrook, NY 12545, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 14 October 2009 Received in revised form 7 February 2010 Accepted 11 February 2010 Available online xxxx

Keywords: Long-term ecological monitoring Biodiversity conservation Adaptive Monitoring Question-driven monitoring Mandated monitoring

ABSTRACT

We provide a broad overview of the underlying philosophy of ecological monitoring. We argue that the major characteristics of effective monitoring programs typically include: (1) Good questions. (2) A conceptual model of an ecosystem or population. (3) Strong partnerships between scientists, policy-makers and managers. (4) Frequent use of data collected.

We classify monitoring programs into three categories – (1) Passive monitoring, which is devoid of specified questions or underlying study design and has limited rationale other than curiosity. (2) Mandated monitoring where environmental data are gathered as a stipulated requirement of government legislation or a political directive. The focus is usually to identify trends. (3) Question-driven monitoring, which is guided by a conceptual model and by a rigorous design that will typically result in a priori predictions that can be tested.

There are advantages and disadvantages of mandated monitoring programs, which are typically largescaled, and generally smaller-scaled, question-driven monitoring programs. For example, while questiondriven monitoring programs can provide insights into the ecological processes giving rise to emergent environmental patterns, spatial generalization from them is difficult because results may not extrapolate well to other regions, states or to a national level. Conversely, while mandated monitoring can be useful for producing coarse level summaries of temporal changes in a target population or resource condition they may not identify the mechanism influencing a change in an ecosystem or an entity. A key remaining challenge is to develop much improved mandated monitoring programs through more widespread adoption of the features of successful question-driven monitoring programs in efforts to enhance biodiversity conservation and environmental management.

© 2010 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	1. Introduction				
2.	A definition of long-term monitoring	00			
	2.1. What is not long-term monitoring	00			
3.	Three broad kinds of monitoring	00			
	3.1. Curiosity-driven or passive monitoring	00			
	3.2. Mandated monitoring	00			
	3.3. Question-driven monitoring	00			
4.	Some ecological values and uses of datasets from long-term monitoring	00			
5. Poor record of long-term ecological monitoring					
	5.1. Passive, mindless and lacking questions	00			
	5.2. Poor study design	00			
	5.3. "Snowed by a blizzard of ecological details	00			
	5.4. Squabbles about what to monitor	00			
	5.5. Assumption that one size fits all	00			
6.	Characteristics of effective monitoring programs	00			
	6.1. Good questions and evolving questions	00			
	6.2. The use of a conceptual model	00			
	•				

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +61 2 6125 0654; fax: +61 2 6125 0757. E-mail addresses: david.lindenmayer@anu.edu.au (D.B. Lindenmayer), likensg@ecostudies.org (G.E. Likens).

0006-3207/\$ - see front matter \odot 2010 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.biocon.2010.02.013



2

D.B. Lindenmayer, G.E. Likens/Biological Conservation xxx (2010) xxx-xxx

	6.3.	Well-developed partnerships	00
	6.4.	Strong and dedicated leadership	00
	6.5.	Ongoing funding	00
	6.6.	Frequent use of data	00
	6.7.	Scientific productivity	00
	6.8.	Maintenance of data integrity and calibration of field techniques.	00
7.	The m	nethodology of effective monitoring	00
8.	Imped	diments to developing more and better monitoring programs	00
	8.1.	Structure of organizations	00
	8.2.	Intellectual property issues	00
	8.3.	The academic culture and rewards systems	00
	8.4.	Funding	00
9.	A maj	jor challenge – integrating knowledge from different kinds of monitoring.	00
	9.1.	Tensions between question-driven and mandated monitoring programs	00
	9.2.	Learning and cross-fertilization between kinds of monitoring programs	00
	9.3.	Impediments to be overcome to link question-driven monitoring and mandated monitoring more effectively	00
10.	Conc	cluding remarks	00
	Ack	nowledgments	00
	Refe	erences	00

1. Introduction

Countless scientific articles, books, management plans and other documents have been written about the need to do long-term ecological monitoring (e.g. Franklin et al., 1999; Goldsmith, 1991; Krebs et al., 2008; Likens, 1989, 1992; Lovett et al., 2007; Spellerberg, 1994; Strayer et al., 1986; Thompson et al., 1998). Indeed, as part of writing this review, a search of the ecological literature published between 1985 and mid-2009 produced more than 5500 articles with the term 'monitoring' in the title or abstract. Within this very large literature are some distinct biases in subject material. First, much has been written about specific methods of monitoring a particular entity, but we believe that these will often be relevant only to that entity (e.g. a species or group of species) or to a given place; they may not be readily transferable to other entities or landscapes. A second bias in the literature is toward generic lists of entities that are advocated as "mandatory" to monitor and generic frameworks to guide the measurement of these entities. However, we believe that the transferability of these approaches to other ecosystems can be problematic. Third, much of the monitoring literature focuses on statistical methods. While these approaches are valuable, they may not be relevant to specific questions or problems that any given particular monitoring program aims to address. Fourth, much of the monitoring literature focuses on "indicators" and claims that entity X or species Y is an "indicator". Often these claims are unsubstantiated. Where they are substantiated, the generality of the indicator function can be limited - either spatially, taxonomically or both, and this approach may not be helpful for those proposing to establish new monitoring programs.

In this paper, we do not revisit these already well-covered themes and advocate, for example, particular field techniques, statistical methods, or target entities for long-term ecological monitoring. We have not undertaken a meta-analysis or systematic review of world-wide, monitoring programs, nor do we provide summary statistics on different kinds of monitoring programs or the range of entities targeted in monitoring programs. Rather, our focus is on the underlying philosophy of monitoring for ecological knowledge. First, we provide a definition of long-term monitoring. We then classify long-term monitoring into three broad categories – (1) curiosity-driven or passive monitoring. We then discuss the key characteristics of each category and present a short treatise on the kinds of ecological values that can be derived from data gathered in long-term, ecological monitoring programs. Our

assessment of the vast literature on monitoring suggests that monitoring programs are often ineffective or fail completely and we present a series of reasons for these problems. As a counter to that section, we then present a description of the key characteristics of effective ecological monitoring programs. The concluding section of this paper focuses on two topics: (1) some important impediments to be overcome in improving monitoring programs – particularly given current attributes of the culture of science and society and (2) the challenges of integrating data from different kinds of monitoring programs that are undertaken at different spatial scales and with different approaches.

Our aim in writing a set of general philosophical perspectives on long-term monitoring is to foster a renewed interest in, and an improvement of, ecological monitoring. We consider that it is now increasingly critical to undertake high-quality, question-driven, statistically-designed monitoring, given the rapid increase in the effects of climate change (Lawler, 2009; Heller and Zavaleta, 2009), other human-accelerated environmental changes (Likens, 1991), and the need to reverse current, widespread environmental degradation (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005). We believe that given the increasing seriousness of environmental problems throughout the world, there never has been a more important time to establish effective and interacting monitoring programs.

2. A definition of long-term monitoring

For the purposes of this review, we use a practical, operational definition of long-term monitoring efforts that is:

Repeated field-based empirical measurements are collected continuously and then analyzed for at least 10 years.

Some in the scientific community view monitoring as a management activity unrelated to scientific research (e.g. Hellawell, 1991). Conversely, we believe that long-term monitoring is both science and research (Nichols and Williams, 2006; Yoccoz et al., 2001). Good science and hence good monitoring starts with good questions. Good questions are developed by: (1) Using critical thinking. (2) Building robust conceptual models of how ecosystems work (e.g. Bormann and Likens, 1967). (3) Testing "true" policy questions (Walters, 1986) of management relevance (Russell-Smith et al., 2003). (4) Promoting open dialog between scientists and managers (Lawton, 2007; Likens, 1989; Likens et al., 2009). And, (5) Critically evaluating study manipulations, both designed and opportunistic.

We acknowledge there are many nuances to discussions about what constitutes "long-term" monitoring. Strayer et al. (1986) note that some workers consider long-term studies to be those that continue beyond the generation time of dominant organisms in an ecosystem or sufficiently long to quantify the key processes, which structure the ecosystem under investigation. This definition would mean that studies of bacterial assemblages with very rapid generation times would be long-term investigations if they were to persist for a year or even a month. Conversely, a 300-year study of stands of Giant Sequoia (*Sequoiadendron giganteum*) in western North America in which the dominant trees may live for over 1000 years would not qualify as a long-term study. These considerations are important because they emphasize the variable lifespan of different organisms, but they are not feasible to use for many ecosystem analyses.

2.1. What is not long-term monitoring

We do not consider long-term monitoring to be haphazard revisits to a site after a prolonged absence (e.g. Currie and Parry, 1999; Smith et al., 2007) or simply measuring something in the environment. Although simulation models can make projections for thousands of years, we also do not consider simulation modeling per se to constitute long-term monitoring.

3. Three broad kinds of monitoring

We believe there are three broad types of long-term monitoring within the general definition we have proposed above. These are curiosity-driven or passive monitoring, mandated monitoring and question-driven monitoring. We further discuss these kinds of monitoring in the remainder of this section.

3.1. Curiosity-driven or passive monitoring

This is monitoring devoid of specified questions or underlying study design and with little or no purpose other than curiosity. It may be done out of inquisitiveness, but has limited usefulness in addressing environmental problems or in discovering how the world works because it is not hypothesis-driven and because it lacks management interventions or different experimental treatments which facilitate scientific understanding about such things as ecosystem responses to natural or human disturbance.

3.2. Mandated monitoring

This is monitoring where environmental data are gathered as a stipulated requirement of government legislation or a political directive such as monitoring of weather or river flow. Rigid quality assurance protocols are usually strictly mandated in this type of monitoring. Mandated monitoring does not attempt to identify or understand the mechanism influencing a change in an ecosystem or an entity. Rather, the focus is usually to identify trends (e.g. whether environmental conditions are getting "better" or "worse"). Data from mandated monitoring programs is often used in state of environment reports (e.g. The Heinz Center, 2008), although this is not always the case (e.g. in Australia; State of Environment 2006).

3.3. Question-driven monitoring

This is monitoring guided by a conceptual model and by a rigorous study design. The use of a conceptual model will typically result in a priori predictions that then can be tested as part of the monitoring program. Often such learning is informed by strongly contrasting management interventions (Carpenter et al., 1995). In statistical parlance, such studies might be termed "longitudinal studies with interventions" (e.g. Lindenmayer et al., 2008). In many respects, these methods are akin to formal experiments and natural experiments, such as wind storms, and hence we see that the distinction between monitoring and research is blurred. Thus, such approaches may lead to robust predictive capacity and enable an investigator to pose new questions – an advantageous part of the Adaptive Monitoring framework (sensu Lindenmayer and Likens, 2009), in which a monitoring program can evolve as key questions change. Predictive capacity can be of immense value for ecologists, resource managers and decision-makers, in contrast to simply extending trend lines such as in many mandated monitoring programs.

Obviously, there can be overlap between these broad categories of monitoring. For example, a rigorous statistical framework can characterize both mandated and question-driven monitoring. Mandated monitoring is often coarse-scale, leading to assessments of resource condition, but providing limited understanding of ecological mechanisms. Question-driven monitoring is often the converse. It is finer scaled and often process-based, but it is very difficult to make valid spatial extrapolations to larger scales (e.g. regions or continents). As we discuss below, we believe these differences are often overlooked in an effort to develop an all-encompassing, "one-size-fits-all" framework for monitoring programs.

4. Some ecological values and uses of datasets from long-term monitoring

All organisms, including humans, depend upon the functioning of ecosystems for their well being and survival. High-quality ecological information collected over long periods provides critical insights into changes in these ecosystem services. Without this information, we would have no knowledge about the changing status of the life-support system of the planet. Therefore, data from long-term monitoring programs are fundamentally valuable for many purposes, including:

- Documenting and providing baselines against which change or extremes can be evaluated (e.g. Keeling et al., 1995, 1996).
- Evaluating ecological responses to natural or experimental disturbance (Schindler et al., 1985).
- Detecting and evaluating changes in ecosystem structure and function (Krebs et al., 2001; Danell et al., 2006).
- Identifying ecological surprises (e.g. Zhan et al., 2006).
- Guiding evidence-based environmental legislation (e.g. laws to control air and water pollutants) (Likens, 1992).
- Generating new and important questions about ecological dynamics (Persson et al., 2009).
- Providing empirical data for testing ecological theory (Shrader-Frechette and McCoy, 1993) and developing models such as computer simulation models (Burgman et al., 1993). And,
- Providing data for mining when exploring new questions (e.g. Stelzer and Likens, 2006; Cole et al., 1994).

5. Poor record of long-term ecological monitoring

Although there have been some highly successful long-term research and monitoring programs (e.g. Goldman, 1981; Lawes Agricultural Trust, 1984; Likens, 1985; Lund, 1978; Schindler et al., 1985), there is a prolonged history of poorly planned and unfocused monitoring programs that are either ineffective or fail completely (see Allen, 1993; Krebs, 1991; Legg and Nagy, 2006; Norton, 1996; Orians, 1986; Stankey et al., 2003). For example, Allen (1993) and Norton (1996) have described how nearly half of the more

4

ARTICLE IN PRESS

Table 1

Reasons why monitoring programs and long-term studies can fail or be ineffective.

Problem	Key reference
Mindless, lacking questions	Lindenmayer and Likens (2009)
Poor experimental design	Bernhardt et al. (2005)
Monitoring too many things poorly rather than fewer things well	Zeide (1994)
Failure to agree on what entities to monitor	Lindenmayer and Likens (2009)
Flawed assumption that all monitoring programs can be the same	Lindenmayer and Likens (2010)
Scientific disengagement from monitoring programs	Franklin et al. (1999)
Poor data management	Caughlan and Oakly (2001)
Loss of integrity of the long-term data record	Strayer et al. (1986)
Lack of funding	Caughlan and Oakly (2001)
Loss of key personnel	Kendeigh (1982)
Unexpected major event	Laurance and Luizão (2007)

than 55 monitoring programs on tussock grasslands in New Zealand were unreported, indicating a failure rate that is extremely high. Similarly, Ward et al. (1986) lament about the "data-rich but information-poor" syndrome in water quality monitoring.

Monitoring programs can be ineffective or fail for many reasons as we summarize in Table 1. These characteristics mean that it can be difficult to determine when it is appropriate for a monitoring program to continue, to cease, or when a program can be modified and made more effective. Well-designed and implemented monitoring programs that do not have these characteristics may still fail for other reasons such as lack of funding, or an unforeseen event like a major human or natural disturbance (although both can sometimes provide research and monitoring opportunities). In the remainder of this section we further discuss four of the key reasons why monitoring programs can be ineffective or fail: (1) lack of questions, (2) poor study design, (3) failure to properly articulate what to monitor, and why it is important to monitor targeted entities, and (4) an inappropriate assumption that there is a single approach to monitoring that is uniformly applicable to all monitoring programs.

5.1. Passive, mindless and lacking questions

Some monitoring programs have been driven by short-term funding or a political directive rather than being underpinned by carefully posed questions and objectives. Roberts (1991) argued that too often monitoring has been: '...planned backwards on the collect now (data), think-later (of a useful question) principle...'. A paucity of questions is a serious problem because it often results in monitoring programs being poorly focused and incapable of delivering effective outcomes (Field et al., 2007; Legg and Nagy, 2006; Martin et al., 2007). In other cases this means that it is not possible to diagnose the cause of a change which, in turn, limits predictive capability either through time or spatially to other landscapes or environments.

5.2. Poor study design

A second problem has been that monitoring programs have often been very poorly designed at the beginning of a study (Krebs, 1991). Good design is an inherently statistical process and a critical component of any successful monitoring program. But professional statisticians are often left out of the design phases of monitoring programs. Issues are then overlooked such as: (1) calculations of statistical power to detect trends (Field et al., 2007; Foster, 2001; Reed and Blaustein, 1995; Strayer, 1999), for example levels of replication of different treatments, (2) detectability of a particular individual biotic species or chemical element (Martin et al., 2007; Pellet and Schmidt, 2005; Yoccoz et al., 2001), (3) optimization of field methods and statistical design (e.g. Joseph et al., 2006), (4) the importance of contrasts between treatments (e.g. where there is a human intervention and where there is not) (Krebs, 1991; Lindenmayer and Franklin, 2002; Walters, 1992), and (5) the value of innovative rotating of sampling methods for increasing inference (Welsh et al., 2000).

Martin et al. (2007) support our view that proponents of monitoring programs should spend more time getting their study design right. For example, some of the strongest designs to guide a monitoring program will often be those where there are contrasting management interventions that enable strong inferences to be made about both how and why an ecosystem or other entity, like a population, has changed either spatially, temporally, or spatiotemporally. The challenges of good study design, coupled with the rigor of subsequent statistical analyses of high-quality environmental data, re-emphasize our earlier point that monitoring programs need to be good science (Lindenmayer and Likens, 2009; Nichols and Williams, 2006).

Poor design has numerous knock-on effects that can result in the failure of a monitoring program (Legg and Nagy, 2006). For example, it can lead to the results of work not being written up, or when it is, making it difficult for findings to be published in reputable outlets. Poor design also means that it is difficult to assess the effectiveness of a management intervention (e.g. application of a prescribed burning regime in a forest) (Whelan, 1995) or a major environmental initiative (e.g. national or even continental agroenvironmental schemes) (Halkowicz, 2008; Kleijn et al., 2006). For example, it is presently not possible to assess the effectiveness of \sim \$US15 billion worth of projects on river restoration in the USA because of poor study design and a lack of rigorous monitoring of interventions designed to improve river and stream environments, and in \sim 90% of projects there was no form of assessment or monitoring of project effectiveness and limited data to determine which activities had been successful and which had not (Bernhardt et al., 2005). Hence, key opportunities for management learning have been lost. In other cases, poorly designed monitoring programs could lead to an incorrect decision being made, such as the down-listing of an endangered species when it should not be (Martin et al., 2007).

5.3. "Snowed by a blizzard of ecological details"

A third issue is that the design of monitoring programs is often prefaced by protracted (and frequently unresolved) arguments about what to monitor. One response has been to monitor a large number of things (the so-called "laundry list"). Some monitoring programs are indeed based on very extensive lists (Zeide, 1994). However, the "laundry-list" approach can have a range of problems. First, it can divert those responsible for establishing a monitoring program from posing well-crafted and tractable questions. Second, resource and time constraints frequently mean that a poorly focused "laundry list" will result in many things being monitored badly. It is simply not possible to monitor a vast number of entities properly (Zeide, 1994). Third, a "laundry list" may make a monitoring program too expensive to be sustained financially beyond the short-term and ultimately lead to its collapse. In cases where the objective of a monitoring program is to assess the impacts of resource management practices (e.g. prescriptions for logging operations), demands to measure a long list of attributes may mean that the costs of a monitoring program are mis-matched with the level of economic return from that management practice (Franklin et al., 1999). Finally, a "laundry-list" approach can create problems with the statistical design of a monitoring program. We believe that "laundry lists" should be regarded only as starting

points in planning; as they do not reflect the realities of operating or financing a credible monitoring program.

5.4. Squabbles about what to monitor

An alternative response by some workers to the "laundry-list" approach has been to argue that "indicator species" or "indicator groups" should be the targets of monitoring programs (Andersen and Majer, 2004; Cantarello and Newton, 2008; Dung and Webb, 2008; McLaren et al., 1998; Sparrow et al., 1994; Spellerberg, 1994; Woodward et al., 1999). Many would argue that the group of organisms they study is special and any valid monitoring program cannot proceed without including them. We have found that over 55 major taxonomic groups have been proposed as indicators for monitoring programs, ranging from viruses and fungi and bry-ophytes to invertebrates and virtually all major vertebrate groups. We found that only very rarely was it explicitly stated: (1) what these species or groups were actually indicative of, particularly at the ecosystem level and (2) the circumstances where these species or groups were not appropriate indicators.

We believe that the problems of "laundry lists" and indicator species can be avoided by carefully crafting questions at the onset of a monitoring program, using a well-conceived model to help conceptualize a particular ecosystem and make predictions about ecosystem behaviour and response (see below). These key steps will help identify those entities most appropriate for monitoring.

5.5. Assumption that one size fits all

Many scientific articles make recommendations about generic frameworks for monitoring programs. Recommendations are made about lists of entities to be measured and the way they should be measured. These kinds of recommendations are understandable given a desire to create compatibility of data recording and increased co-ordination and comparison across studies. However, this approach is problematic for a range of reasons and can cause monitoring programs to be either ineffective or fail completely.

We believe it is often not appropriate to measure the same entities (e.g. the same species groups or ecosystem function) in different places, an approach which is frequently mandated in very large-scale monitoring efforts such as the International Biological

Table 2

Some critical components for maintaining effective monitoring programs (Modified from Likens (2007)).

Plots and study sites should be permanently marked and identified. Detailed descriptions of study areas and field protocols filed in more than one location with sufficient detail provided so that other investigators can find sites, reproduce calculations and methods at some later date

Appropriate and adequate reference and/or control sites established at the beginning of the study

Availability of appropriate field equipment

Long-term security of research sites and field equipment

Reliable access to field sites, including availability of safe and reliable vehicles, such as trucks, boats, snowmobiles

Careful attention to field and laboratory protocols. Methods and procedures standardized to the extent possible, and inter-calibrated with other organizations or individuals doing similar studies. Calibration of analytical results by comparison against standardized samples. Analytical methods or collection procedures should not be changed without testing fully the effect of the new procedure on the long-term record

Match the scale of monitoring to the spatial and temporal dimensions of the question being addressed. Duration of measurements at least as long as the phenomenon being evaluated, or scaled to the frequency of the event or the life history of the organism being studied

Methods or procedures developed for one location or study should not be adopted for another area or study without careful testing and justification

Strict database management and data storage, including the agility to adapt with changes in technology. Dataset storage in at least two separate locations to avoid accidental loss. Long-term storage of samples is highly desired

Stability and competence of staff

Significant time in the field by senior and junior scientists working together

Constant updating and reviewing of data sets (including scrutinization for errors)

Use long-term data sets to answer questions

Maintenance of a stream of publications to develop project credibility and outreach

Maintenance of scientific independence and integrity of the project by avoiding conflicts of interests

Partnerships among scientists, policy-makers and staff from resource management agencies to ensure that long-term work passes the test of management relevance Availability of adequate, sustained and reliable funding

Ongoing development and evolution of questions that can use the information from the monitoring program as a frame or operate parallel to it

Please cite this article in press as: Lindenmayer, D.B., Likens, G.E. The science and application of ecological monitoring. Biol. Conserv. (2010), doi:10.1016/ j.biocon.2010.02.013

Program (IBP). Measuring diverse assemblages of frugivorous birds may well be valid in tropical rainforests where this group can be species rich, but it is likely to be of little merit in desert environments where this group may have relatively few representatives. Similarly, the kinds of threatening processes in a tropical savanna and an alpine meadow may be so different that environmental monitoring or biodiversity monitoring programs in them would likely be conducted very differently. Even within the same broad vegetation type (e.g. tropical rainforest), the application of identical monitoring protocols may not be particularly informative because of differences in biota, key ecological processes, or other factors (cf. Martins et al., 2007).

As we have outlined above, the choice of what entities to measure and how they should be measured is best guided not by a generic framework, but rather by well-defined and scientifically tractable questions (cf. Martins et al., 2007).

6. Characteristics of effective monitoring programs

From our extensive assessment of the very large literature on ecological monitoring, we believe that it is possible to identify some key features of effective or successful monitoring programs. We summarize these in Table 2 and discuss several of them in more detail in the remainder of this section. It is important to identify such factors to improve public perspectives of ecological monitoring and provide policy-makers with reasons to continue funding investments in monitoring programs.

6.1. Good questions and evolving questions

Posing good questions lies at the heart of good science and hence is essential to effective monitoring (Nichols and Williams, 2006). This is a far-from-trivial task. Some authors argue that ecologists and resource managers have been poor at problem definition and objective setting (Peters, 1991). Good question-setting must result in quantifiable objectives that offer unambiguous signposts for measuring progress (Lindenmayer et al., 2007). Thus, good questions must be scientifically tractable and test real policy and resource management options (Walters, 1986), requiring a welldeveloped partnership among scientists, statisticians, resource managers and policy-makers (Gibbons et al., 2008). Key questions

Resolution of intellectual property issues at the onset of a project

often change or evolve during a long-term study or monitoring program requiring nimble responses (Ringold et al., 1996), but without breaching the integrity of the overall monitoring program (Lindenmayer and Likens, 2009).

6.2. The use of a conceptual model

A conceptual model is a diagrammatic representation of how key components and ecological processes of a target ecosystem or population interact and/or influence one another (e.g. Bormann and Likens, 1967). An example of a conceptual model is presented in Fig. 1. A conceptual model of the ecosystem or particular entity to be monitored is one way to help identify and focus on the question/s to be addressed (Woodward et al., 1999).

A conceptual model, developed at the beginning of a study, forces the gathering together of ideas to formulate theory about how a target entity works, and helps to ensure that all the relevant components are captured in the project design. By understanding the input and outputs within a conceptual model framework, it is then possible to understand the mechanisms for change in an ecosystem and what responses might occur as a consequence of management interventions.

A conceptual model needs to be able to guide ongoing research and thinking and becomes a focal point for discussions among partners – scientists, managers and policy-makers about how an ecosystem might be managed and monitored. Conceptual models can fail to guide long-term research and monitoring when they are too detailed, too abstract or vague, unsuitable for answering specific or new questions, or are not pertinent to the research site.

In many cases, there may be two or more competing conceptual models of an ecosystem process or other entity that is targeted for monitoring. The fundamental differences among those models can also be useful for designing monitoring programs as they can highlight the types of data needed to discriminate among those models (Nichols and Williams, 2006).

6.3. Well-developed partnerships

Most successful monitoring programs are built on partnerships between people with different but complementary skills. These include scientists, statisticians, policy-makers and resource managers who may be from government and non-government organizations, universities, research institutions and other organizations. Well-developed partnerships between these groups of people are needed to validate policy-relevant and managementrelevant projects, as well as contain the scientific and statistical rigor required that ensure results are robust and conclusions are workable and defensible. Partnerships are important for other reasons. They can facilitate the flow of information between parties in ways that people from different backgrounds and with different expertise can readily understand. In other cases, particular agencies may not maintain the expertise and capability to do long-term monitoring.

True collaborative partnerships are also essential because policy-makers and resource managers will often not know how to frame questions in ways that can be resolved by well-executed monitoring, or may initially pose too many questions without prioritizing them. They also may have unreasonable expectations about what questions or problems can and cannot be solved by scientific projects and how much effective monitoring can cost. Thus, policy-makers need to understand better the scientific approach and the importance of posing the right questions in the correct way. Conversely, scientists need to articulate better what kinds of questions they can and cannot answer. They also need to understand better the complexity of the policy process (Clark, 2002; Pielke, 2007). Scientists will often not fully comprehend the kinds of key problems faced by policy-makers and resource managers that need to be addressed by long-term monitoring (Russell-Smith et al., 2003). Nor will scientists necessarily be fully aware of the policy options and the range of on-ground, management interventions available for testing and monitoring in a particular ecosystem (Walters, 1986).

Developing partnerships is a challenge because representatives of different groups use different "languages" and jargon, have different work cultures, different reward systems, and different skill sets (Gibbons et al., 2008). Trust and mutual respect is essential, in part because various kinds of knowledge – scientific, policy and political knowledge – together influence decision-making in natural resource management (Pielke, 2007). Hence, for example, good science alone is insufficient as often it will be necessary to translate the results from good science into a form that policymakers and resource managers can understand and use (King, 2004).

6.4. Strong and dedicated leadership

Strong, dedicated and focused leadership is inimical to almost all effective monitoring programs – a champion with the passion to keep the work going (Lovett et al., 2007; Norton, 1996; Strayer et al., 1986). In many cases, long-term projects and team leaders even become synonymous (Strayer et al., 1986). Effective leadership is pivotal to all of the fundamental characteristics of successful monitoring programs described earlier – setting appropriate questions, identifying new questions, developing a workable conceptual model, resolving what to measure, guiding study design, analyzing data, communicating results to management agencies,



Fig. 1. The conceptual model guiding studies of coarse woody debris at Warra Long-Term Ecological Research site in southern Tasmania. (Redrawn from Grove (2007).)

policy-makers and the public, and establishing and maintaining partnerships. Leadership is also critical to securing funding and ensuring good project management, both of which contribute to effective long-term monitoring programs. Leadership embodies both scientific and management leadership; indeed, partnerships appear to work best when there is a problem, such as an environmental problem, with a shared responsibility to find a solution.

6.5. Ongoing funding

No project can proceed or be maintained without access to funding. Generating the funding to maintain long-term monitoring programs is a truly major challenge and few individuals and organizations have ever managed to do it successfully (Strayer et al., 1986). We suggest that many of the underlying problems appear to be associated with the culture of short-termism that pervades the culture of science and indeed the culture of western societies.

Successful programs where funding has been maintained are characterized by many of the factors discussed above, such as strong leadership, evolving questions that are highly relevant to resource management and society's need to know, and high levels of scientific productivity (i.e. published articles, books and media reports). In some cases, successful ongoing funding is linked with appropriate matching of the size of a monitoring program with the scale of a human activity (e.g. a logging operation) (Franklin et al., 1999; Lindenmayer and Franklin, 2002) or the overall budget for the management of a National Park or nature reserve (Edwards et al., 2003). In some cases (e.g. www.earthwatch.org/Field-Reportpdf/Dyer_fieldreport2005.pdf) the passion of an individual is so strong that personal funds have been used for years to support long-term monitoring.

6.6. Frequent use of data

Another key ingredient for maintaining long records of highquality is the frequent examination and interrogation of these data. Such examinations result in important discoveries and stimulate new research and management questions. They are also the primary way problems such as errors and data artefacts are uncovered.

6.7. Scientific productivity

One criterion often used to gauge success is scientific productivity. We strongly believe that the results of monitoring programs must be published in peer-reviewed literature. This outreach is essential to inform the public, funders and resource managers about valuable findings, and helps to establish the credibility, quality and visibility of a project. This outreach is, in turn, essential to convince funders that investments are appropriate and should be maintained.

A potential problem is that it takes a long time to generate longterm trends and patterns with empirical data. Hence, it can take a long time to generate substantial scientific publications from such work. This delay can be perceived as a lack of productivity and threaten the continuity of a project. As a counter to this problem, we believe there can be considerable value in exploring avenues to generate rapid returns on long-term research and monitoring investments and hence highlight scientific productivity. A longterm monitoring program can be used as a framework around which shorter-term projects can be conducted. For example, retrospective or cross-sectional studies can serve as a prelude to longerterm projects and can provide key initial insights or questions. These other projects, often built around the major research and monitoring program (including student projects), enrich the overall effort. Working with the news media to generate high-quality and timely reports about long-term data, particularly about trends and extremes discovered, can be another way to enhance outreach from long-term monitoring programs. Such reports can be very effective in informing the public, policy-makers and funders about environmental issues and the research being done (e.g. Likens, 1992).

6.8. Maintenance of data integrity and calibration of field techniques

New sensors, modified or new analytical procedures and realtime data can add significantly to long-term data (Hirsch et al., 2006), but offsets and glitches generated by new methodologies are a common problem in monitoring and must be addressed carefully. In the long-term Hubbard Brook Ecosystem Study in New Hampshire (USA), for example, an analytical chemical method or procedure is not replaced with a new one without first overlapping the two. This overlapping period may be for many months or for more than a year to compare results and avoid offsets in the record due to different methodologies (Buso et al., 2000). Also, many samples are stored for later analysis to help reconcile problems and to enable new questions to be pursued when new technology becomes available (e.g. see Alewell et al., 1999).

7. The methodology of effective monitoring

Based on some of the salient features that should accompany effective monitoring programs, we have previously proposed an "Adaptive Monitoring" framework (Lindenmayer and Likens, 2009). A fundamental part of this framework is that question-setting, study design, data collection, data analysis, and data interpretation are iterative steps. A monitoring program can then evolve and develop in response to new information or new questions. For example, it may be appropriate to alter the frequency of data collection when key entities are changing at rates different than those initially anticipated. An Adaptive Monitoring approach also enables questions to change, new questions to be posed, and new protocols to be embraced when, for example, new technology arises to enhance field or laboratory measurements within the overall monitoring framework.

An important caveat with the Adaptive Monitoring approach is that the adoption of new sampling or analytical methods must





ensure that the integrity of the long-term data is neither breached nor distorted. Another caveat is that sometimes particular questions cannot be addressed with a given long-term dataset (that it was not originally designed to address) and an entirely new investigation may need to be established.

The core principles of the Adaptive Monitoring framework mean that the approach is relevant to a wide range of circumstances and to all kinds of monitoring - from very simple to very complex programs as well as from mandated monitoring programs usually conducted at a coarse-scale to site- or landscape-level, and curiosity-driven monitoring programs. However, the Adaptive Monitoring framework does not lead to a set of highly specific prescriptions that can be applied uncritically to any given monitoring program. Rather, its specific application will be context-dependent, and will vary in response to the particular problem to be resolved, the questions being posed, and the composition and ecological processes of particular ecosystems. Our approach also emphasizes that Adaptive Monitoring is not mindless data collection, but instead pivots on the legitimate scientific practice of posing rigorous questions and carefully designing and implementing appropriate studies to answer them.

The Adaptive Monitoring framework shares many common elements with the Adaptive Management paradigm (sensu Walters, 1986), which is much discussed but rarely implemented (Lindenmayer et al., 2007; Stankey et al., 2003). That is, (1) the questionsetting step will often be best motivated and implemented by testing management interventions, which are relevant to policy options for the management of ecosystems and natural resources (Nichols and Williams, 2006; Walters and Holling, 1990), (2) there is an explicit acknowledgment of ignorance. That is, there are unknown things discovered that the monitoring work specifically did not set out to address (Walters, 1986; Williams and Johnson, 1995), (3) the questions developed for testing are based on a priori predictions from a conceptual model suggesting how an ecosystem might function and what the response of monitored entities might be to competing management interventions in that ecosystem, and (4) there are strong links between the iterative steps in the Adaptive Monitoring framework, which connect question-setting with management actions (e.g. an intervention) and an improved understanding of ecosystem or population responses.

8. Impediments to developing more and better monitoring programs

The two preceding sections of this review contrasted the characteristics of ineffective monitoring programs with the features of effective or successful ones. Our review of the scientific literature suggests that the former are more common than the latter and we believe there are at least four substantial impediments that must be overcome to develop more and better long-term ecological monitoring.

8.1. Structure of organizations

The structure of many organizations is not conducive to instigating and maintaining long-term monitoring programs. Many organizations have high staff turnover and are characterized by a paucity of institutional memory. There is limited or no psyche of long-term studies (O'Neill, 2008) or allied features such as fastidious data and sample curation or long-term data management. In addition, there is usually an emphasis on reducing staff numbers in these organizations during budget crises, leading to a severe drop in morale for those who are retained. Yet, retaining and then ensuring ongoing support for quality staff on the ground over prolonged periods is essential for successful monitoring.

8.2. Intellectual property issues

Successful long-term research and monitoring programs result in the collection of high-quality empirical data and are characterized by high-quality data management. However, an important, but often unresolved issue is intellectual property and data sharing in the wider ecological and resource management communities. Only rarely have reasonable and ethical rules of engagement been developed for data sharing between those who gather long-term field data and others who desire access to those data for modeling, data mining, and other analyses. Without appropriate attention to intellectual property issues at the beginning of a study, the development of better ways of data sharing (e.g. Jones et al., 2006) will be impaired and the full potential of valuable empirical data for enhanced environmental management will not be realized (Bertzky and Stoll-Kleemann, 2009).

Policies regarding public data dissemination should be thought through and clearly stated early in the process of establishing a monitoring program. Likewise, within teams of scientists doing long-term research and monitoring there needs to be a clear, articulated understanding also at the beginning of a monitoring effort about the role of team members and the use and attribution of data collected by individuals in the team (Likens, 2001).

8.3. The academic culture and rewards systems

Deeply ingrained attributes of current scientific culture and associated reward systems create substantial disincentives to undertake long-term ecological monitoring. For example, scientific culture favours new work rather than maintaining ongoing work and does not encourage upcoming scientists to take over pre-existing projects and provide continuity in leadership and focus for long-term projects. We strongly believe that the culture of modern science needs re-examination to tackle this problem and to catalyze greater scientific engagement in long-term research and monitoring programs.

8.4. Funding

Access to funding is an obvious factor influencing the success of monitoring programs. Many aspects of funding are not well suited to the establishment and maintenance of such programs. Monitoring programs are often seen as a luxury and not core for many resource management organizations. They are therefore usually the last initiatives to be funded and the first ones to be cut during budget shortfalls. In addition, budget cycles emphasize short-term projects with rapid achievement of milestones. Funding initiatives of 1-3 years are rarely congruent with the timeframes appropriate for effective monitoring. Thus, there often is a fundamental mismatch between long-term environmental management aspirations and short-term financial realities. We believe funding models based on endowments may be useful to circumvent problems associated with short-term funding problems. An outstanding example is the 175-year research program at Rothamsted in England (Rothamsted Research, 2006).

9. A major challenge – integrating knowledge from different kinds of monitoring

We have shown that there are several kinds of long-term monitoring programs and crudely assigned them into three broad categories: question-driven monitoring, mandated monitoring, and curiosity-driven or passive monitoring. These kinds of monitoring programs are often conducted in different ways and usually at different spatial scales. In this section we argue that fundamentally

important challenges remain about how to: (1) better integrate data, approaches and insights from different kinds of monitoring programs into useful environmental management and (2) use knowledge about the advantages and disadvantages of different kinds of monitoring programs to improve monitoring efforts, and in particular, ensure that many features of question-driven monitoring programs are more broadly adopted within mandated monitoring programs.

9.1. Tensions between question-driven and mandated monitoring programs

Question-driven, long-term monitoring programs will often operate at the level of sites, landscapes or regions. When they are based on well-defined and scientifically tested questions (among other features), they can provide important long-term environmental data on emerging environmental problems, as well as insights about the mechanisms or ecological processes giving rise to these emergent patterns. Such programs, in turn, can be highly valuable for informing resource management. However, spatial generalization from question-driven, long-term monitoring programs is difficult because the results from such studies may not extrapolate well or easily to other regions, states or to the national level. That is, it is not straight-forward to produce national perspectives on environmental conditions by integrating across such kinds of different site-level, landscape-level, or region-level studies. Thus, these kinds of detailed programs are usually one-of-akind projects that do not produce data at the scale governments may want or need. Nevertheless, they often provide the in-depth perspective vital for developing, understanding and for initiating management protocols.

Mandated monitoring programs often produce coarse level summaries of temporal changes in resource condition (e.g. "status reports") in response to demands from politicians and high-level policy-makers who want some kind of world-, state-, or nationallevel reflection of environmental performance. For example, there is a large and growing number of regional, state/provincial, national and international organizations producing "State of the Environment" reports (see www.cnie.org for a good, but partial listing of the sources for these reports). The Worldwatch Institute's annual "State of the World" report is a highly visible example (Brown, 2008). Countless United Nations documents on the state of the planet's natural resources and its environment continue to be produced (e.g. Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations, 2007; United Nations Environment Program (UNEP), 1999). The reports and summaries from mandated monitoring programs can be useful information about temporal changes, but only a limited understanding about the site-specific mechanisms that have given rise to those changes. The large spatial scale of this information also may not be particularly useful for guiding targeted on-the-ground management interventions to improve environmental conditions in a given location.

Therefore, there are advantages and disadvantages of questionled monitoring and large-scale mandated monitoring. There is also an inherent tension between state- and national-level mandated monitoring and site- and region-based monitoring, as well as between academic- and organization-based monitoring programs. This tension occurs because these are often quite disparate programs. For example, we note that no data from the USA's 26 Long-Term Ecological Research (LTER) sites costing taxpayers ~\$US23 million per year were explicitly included in the USA's, The State of the Nation's Ecosystems report (The Heinz Center, 2008). The tension between mandated monitoring programs and site- and region-based monitoring programs is reminiscent of tensions between top-down and bottom-up approaches in ecological thinking and research approaches. As in the case of taking advantage of the different methods of study in ecology to facilitate progress, there also must be ways to capitalize on synergies between national- and state-based mandated monitoring and question-driven monitoring.

9.2. Learning and cross-fertilization between kinds of monitoring programs

Many authors have argued that ecology is a case-study discipline (e.g. Shrader-Frechette and McCoy, 1993) and it is clear that as outstanding as some particular long-term programs have been, such as those at Rothamsted (England) (Lawes Agricultural Trust, 1984) or the Experimental Lakes Area in Ontario (Canada) (Schindler et al., 1985), they are one-offs that are virtually impossible to replicate elsewhere. However, we believe that these kinds of projects serve as in-depth, reference models often identifying major environmental problems (e.g. atmospheric CO₂ increase at Mauna Loa (Keeling et al., 1995, 1996) and showing what key environmental changes or important ecological processes are occurring in other places. These kinds of long-term research and monitoring programs have led to major discoveries in ecology and environmental management. For example, the findings from the long-term research and monitoring at the Hubbard Brook Experimental Forest in New Hampshire USA clearly suggested that acid rain and its effects were far more extensive throughout North America. They underpinned the passage of the 1990 Clean Air Act Amendments in the USA, primarily because the underlying data were long-term and high-quality. Moreover, the research of the Hubbard Brook Ecosystem Study and the Experimental Lakes Area in Ontario helped to catalyze the commencement of national networks for precipitation chemistry in the USA and Canada. The important lesson then is that leaders of site-based monitoring programs should think about the broader (regional, state, province, or national) implications of their findings, including the implications of sitebased work as models for larger-scaled, mandated monitoring programs.

We also believe that the fundamental characteristics of some of the best examples of question-driven monitoring programs (welldefined questions, well-articulated conceptual models, rigorous study designs) are features that should be much more widely embraced as part of efforts to improve mandated monitoring programs. We make this suggestion because we believe questiondriven, mandated monitoring programmes are likely to be the most efficient use of resources for addressing most ecological problems. We are aware that there would be many hurdles in implementing such programs (including changing the mindset within many institutions), but it is a much improved standard and should be worked towards and would be a worthy achievement. Thus, for example, the Adaptive Monitoring framework and the iterative steps that comprise the framework (Fig. 2) are just as relevant to mandated monitoring programs as they are to question-driven monitoring programs. We have argued above that any kind of monitoring program will be effective only when it is based on well-defined questions, makes use of a well formulated conceptual model, and is guided by a carefully crafted study design. This formula may sound trite and we have repeated it several times in this review, but we have been shocked at how often these seemingly simple ingredients are missing in toto, or individually, from a very large number of extant monitoring programs.

9.3. Impediments to be overcome to link question-driven monitoring and mandated monitoring more effectively

The challenge of integrating data, approaches and insights from question-driven and mandated monitoring programs is a substantial one and success in meeting this challenge requires overcoming

three key impediments. First, attempts to coordinate across programs require a uniform set of protocols to facilitate data compatibility. This is a "one-size-fits-all" approach and we outlined above the suite of problems generic monitoring frameworks can create. In fact, enforcing the measurement of a common string of variables across sites could result in a "race to the bottom". That is, it may lead to a very crude set of common measurements of limited value for environmental management. Many measurements in, for example, Long-leaf Pine ecosystems in southeastern USA, which are strongly fire-dependent, may be irrelevant to the deserts of Antarctica or tropical rainforests of Puerto Rico.

Second, it remains unclear how to combine sensibly the metrics for environmental conditions that have been estimated or calculated in different systems. There is a long, but largely unsuccessful, history of this kind of problem in other topics in ecology. Examples include the difficulties of combining sub-indices for habitat attributes in constructing Habitat Suitability Index models (reviewed by Lindenmayer and Burgman (2005) and Van Horne and Wiens (1991)) and combining landscape indices into meaningful measures of landscape cover (Cale and Hobbs, 1994; McAlpine et al., 2002). It seems to us that combining outcomes from quite different monitoring programs is a similar kind of problem, albeit at large spatial scales and over longer time frames. As an example, poor environmental performance in one place added to a good performance in another could be summed to provide an average overall result, suggesting that the environmental conditions are reasonable. This result would obscure the fact that environmental conditions are degrading in some places (sites or regions). In Australia there are proposals to create a set of National Environment Accounts (Wentworth Group, 2008), similar to those which are used to gauge economic trends (e.g. Gross Domestic Product, employment numbers, budget surpluses and budget deficits). Such accounts would need to be built on high-quality environmental datasets and combine information from a range of sources to facilitate the calculation of credible metrics of environmental condition (Wentworth Group, 2008). There have been recent attempts to develop approaches to measure environmental performance better (Lamb et al., 2009; McDonald et al., 2008; Nielsen et al., 2007). These are promising, however, they are still in their infancy and in many cases currently, are often relatively narrowly focused (e.g. on the amount of area protected).

A third impediment that needs to be overcome is the tension between making long-term data readily accessible to the scientific community and at the same time protecting intellectual property through appropriate attribution.

In summary, we believe that many of the arguments in the scientific and resource management literatures about monitoring frameworks and frustrations about ineffective monitoring programs stem from a failure to recognize the inherent values of, and differences between, large-scale mandated monitoring programs and smaller-scaled question-driven monitoring programs. We believe a major challenge is to combine the datasets, results and outcomes that are conducted at different scales, in different ways and by different groups to produce integrated assessments useful to decision-makers. There may well be methods that have been used to develop broadly-based state/province or national level economic metrics as well as track economic performance in different (often more localized) sectors of economies, which might be usefully applied in solving problems of aggregating datasets from environmental monitoring programs. The development of such approaches could help reflect environmental conditions at local scales as well as highlight overall environmental performance at larger, aggregated scales. However, we readily admit that we do not know how to do this integration for environmental monitoring programs and associated datasets in ways that are scientifically defensible, of value for resource managers, and useful to policymakers. We know that many readers will find our admission of ignorance to be unsatisfactory and frustrating. However, unless this challenge is resolved, our ability to deal with pressing problems such as rapid climate change and human-accelerated environmental change will be severely limited. Overcoming this challenge should be a primary topic for further published discussions that build on the insights we have summarized in this review.

10. Concluding remarks

We argue that there is a suite of kinds of monitoring programs and that these are often conducted in different ways and at different scales with the most effective ones being those focused on well-crafted questions resulting in a study design, a set of attributes and an implementation approach that will be different in each monitoring program. Thus, there is clearly not a one-sizefits-all approach to monitoring.

Various kinds of long-term ecological monitoring will be fundamental to evidence-based environmental decision-making and, in turn, essential to gauge the effectiveness of management interventions (Field et al., 2007; Krebs, 1991). Long-term monitoring was fundamental to quantifying problems associated with increasing carbon emissions (Keeling et al., 1995) and will be pivotal to gauging the success of attempts to mitigate against, or better adapt to, the effects of rapid climate change (Lovett et al., 2007; Steffen et al., 2009).

While we are fully cognizant of the fact that there is no such thing as a perfect monitoring program, we do believe it is critical to improve on the poor record of ecological monitoring to date. On this basis, we have outlined attributes we believe are pivotal for effective, long-term ecological monitoring programs. For example, we believe that a major challenge is to work out how to ensure that many of the key features of successful question-driven programs are more widely adopted and implemented within mandated programs. The broader adoption of these characteristics will be critical for encouraging governments, private foundations and the general public to increase significantly the levels of funding that are urgently needed for expanding and extending environmental monitoring.

Acknowledgments

Parts of this review draws on our book, "Effective Ecological Monitoring" (CSIRO Publishing and Earthscan). We thank the Commonwealth Environment Research Facilities CERF) program of the Australian Government for financial support and encouragement with our work. We thank R. Primack for encouraging the writing of this review. R. Muntz assisted with the preparation of many key aspects of this paper.

References

- Alewell, C., Mitchell, M.J., Likens, G.E., Krouse, H.R., 1999. Sources of stream sulfate at the Hubbard Brook Experimental Forest: long-term analyses using stable isotopes. Biogeochemistry 41, 281–299.
- Allen, R.B., 1993. An appraisal of monitoring studies in South Island tussock grasslands, New Zealand. New Zealand J. Ecol. 17, 61–63.
- Andersen, A.N., Majer, J.D., 2004. Ants show the way Down Under: invertebrates as bioindicators in land management. Front. Ecol. Environ. 2, 291–298.
- Bernhardt, E.S., Palmer, M.A., Allan, J.D., 2005. Synthesizing US river restoration projects. Science 308, 636–637.
- Bertzky, M., Stoll-Kleemann, S., 2009. Multi-level discrepancies with sharing data on protected areas: what we have and what we need for the global village. J. Environ. Manage. 90, 8–24.

Brown, L.R., 2008. State of the World. World Watch Institute and W.W. Norton, Washington, DC.

Bormann, F.H., Likens, G.E., 1967. Nutrient cycling. Science 155, 424-429.

Burgman, M.A., Ferson, S., Akçakaya, H.R., 1993. Risk Assessment in Conservation Biology. Chapman and Hall, New York, London.

- Buso, D.C., Likens, G.E., Eaton, J.S., 2000. Chemistry of precipitation, stream water and lake water from the Hubbard Brook Ecosystem Study: a record of sampling protocols and analytical procedures. General Tech. Report NE-275. USDA Forest Service, Northeastern Research Station, Newtown Square, Pennsylvania, pp. 1-52.
- Cale, P.G., Hobbs, R.J., 1994. Landscape heterogeneity indices: problems of scale and applicability, with particular reference to animal habitat description. Pacific Conserv. Biol. 1, 183-193.
- Cantarello, E., Newton, A.C., 2008. Identifying cost-effective indicators to assess the conservation status of forested habitats in Natura 2000 sites. Forest Ecol. Manage. 256, 815-826.
- Carpenter, S.R., Chisholm, S.W., Krebs, C.J., Schindler, D.W., Wright, R.F., 1995. Ecosystem experiments. Science 269, 324-327.
- Caughlan, L., Oakly, K.L., 2001. Cost considerations for long-term ecological monitoring. Ecol. Indic. 1, 123-134.
- Clark, T.W., 2002. The Policy Process. A Practical Guide for Natural Resource Professionals. Yale University Press, New Haven, Connecticut.
- Cole, F.R., Reeder, D.M., Wilson, D.E., 1994. A synopsis of the distribution patterns and the conservation of mammal species. J. Mammal. 75, 266-276.
- Currie, D.R., Parry, G.D., 1999. Changes to benthic communities over 20 years in Port Phillip Bay, Victoria. Marine Poll. Bull. 38, 36-43.
- Danell, K., Bergström, R., Duncan, P., Pastor, J. (Eds.), 2006. Large Mammalian Herbivores, Ecosystem Dynamics, and Conservation. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England.
- Dung, N.T., Webb, E.L., 2008. Combining local ecological knowledge and quantitative forest surveys to select indicator species for forest condition in Central Vietnam. Ecol. Indic. 8, 767–770.
- Edwards, A., Kennett, R., Price, O., Russell-Smith, J., Spiers, G., Woinarski, J., 2003. Monitoring the impacts of fire regimes on vegetation in northern Australia: an example from Kakadu National Park. Int. J. Wildland Fire 12, 427-440.
- Field, S.A., O'Connor, P.J., Tyre, A.J., Possingham, H.P., 2007. Making monitoring meaningful. Austral Ecol. 32, 485-491.
- Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations, 2007. State of the World's Forests. Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations, Rome.
- Foster, J.R., 2001. Statistical power in forest monitoring. Forest Ecol. Manage. 151, 211-222.
- Franklin, J.F., Harmon, M.E., Swanson, F.J., 1999. Complementary roles of research and monitoring: lessons from the US LTER Program and Tierra del Fuego. Paper presented to the Symposium toward a Unified Framework for Inventorying and Monitoring Forest Ecosystem Resources, Guadalajara, Mexico, November 1998.
- Gibbons, P., Zammit, C., Youngentob, K., Possingham, H.P., Lindenmayer, D.B., Bekessy, S., Burgman, M., Colyvan, M., Considine, M., Felton, A., Hobbs, R., Hurley, C., McAlpine, C., McCarthy, M.A., Moore, J., Robinson, D., Salt, D., Wintle, B., 2008. Some practical suggestions for improving engagement between policy makers and researchers in natural resource management. Ecol. Restor. Manage. 9.182-186
- Goldman, C., 1981. Lake Tahoe: two decades of change in a nitrogen deficient oligotrophic lake. Verh. Int. Verein. Limnol. 21, 45-70.
- Goldsmith, B., 1991, Monitoring for Conservation and Ecology, Chapman and Hall, London.
- Grove, S.J., 2007. Ecological research coverage at the Warra LTER site, Tasmania: a gap analysis based on a conceptual ecological model. Tasforests 15, 43–53.
- Halkowicz, S., 2008. The evolution of Australia's natural resource management programs: towards improved targeting and evaluation of investments. Land Use Pol. 26, 471-478.
- Hellawell, J.M., 1991. Development of a rationale for monitoring. In: Goldsmith, F.B. (Ed.), Monitoring for Conservation and Ecology. Chapman and Hall, London, pp. 1 - 14.
- Heller, N.E., Zavaleta, E.S., 2009. Biodiversity management in the face of climate change: a review of 22 years of recommendations. Biol. Conserv. 142, 14-32.
- Hirsch, R.M., Hamilton, P.A., Miller, T.L., 2006. US Geological Survey perspective on water-quality monitoring and assessment. J. Environ. Monit. 8, 512-518.
- Jones, M.B., Schildhauer, M.P., Reichman, O.J., Bowers, S., 2006. The new bioinformatics: integrating ecological data from the gene to the biosphere. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 37, 519-544.
- Joseph, L., Field, S.A., Wilcox, C., Possingham, H.P., 2006. Presence-absence versus abundance data for monitoring threatened species. Conserv. Biol. 20, 1679-1687
- Keeling, C.D., Whorf, T.P., Wahlen, M., van der Plicht, J., 1995. Interannual extremes in the rate of rise of atmospheric carbon dioxide since 1980. Nature 357, 666-670.
- Keeling, C.D., Chin, J.F., Whorf, T.P., 1996. Increased activity of northern vegetation inferred from atmospheric CO2 measurements. Nature 382, 146-149.
- Kendeigh, S.C., 1982. Bird populations in east central Illinois: fluctuations, variations and developments over half a century. Illinois Bird Mono. 52, 1-152. King, L., 2004. Impacting policy through science and education. Prevent. Vet. Med.
- 62. 185-192. Kleijn, D., Baquero, R.A., Clough, Y., Diaz, M., De Estaban, J., Fernandez, F., Gabriel, D.,
- Herzog, F., Holzchuh, A., Johl, R., Knop, E., Kruess, A., Marshall, E.J., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Tscharntke, T., Verhulst, J., West, T.M., Yela, J.L., 2006. Mixed biodiversity benefits of agri-environment schemes in five European countries. Ecol. Lett. 9, 243-254.
- Krebs, C.J., 1991. The experimental paradigm and long-term population studies. Ibis 133, 2-8.

- Krebs, C.J., Boutin, S., Boonstra, R. (Eds.), 2001. Ecosystem Dynamics of the Boreal Forest: The Kluane Project. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Krebs, C.J., Carrier, P., Boutin, S., Boonstra, R., Hofer, E.J., 2008. Mushroom crops in relation to weather in the southwestern Yukon. Botany 86, 1497-1502
- Lamb, E.G., Bayne, E., Holloway, G., Schieck, J., Soutin, S., Herbers, J., Haughland, D.L. 2009. Indices for monitoring biodiversity change: are some more effective than others? Ecol. Indic. 9, 432-444.
- Laurance, W., Luizão, R., 2007. Driving a wedge into the Amazon. Nature 448, 409-410
- Lawler, J., 2009. Climate change adaptation strategies for resource management and conservation planning. Ann. New York Acad. Sci. 1162, 79-98.
- Lawton, J.H., 2007. Ecology, politics and policy. J. Appl. Ecol. 44, 465-474.
- Legg, C.J., Nagy, L., 2006. Why most conservation monitoring is, but need not be, a waste of time. J. Environ. Manage. 78, 194–199.
- Likens, G.E. (Ed.), 1985. An Ecosystem Approach to Aquatic Ecology: Mirror Lake and its Environment. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Likens, G.E. (Ed.), 1989. Long-term Studies in Ecology. Approaches and Alternatives. Springer-Verlag, New York
- Likens, G.E., 1991. Human-accelerated environmental change. BioScience 41, 130. Likens, G.E., 1992. The Ecosystem Approach: Its Use and Abuse. Excellence in
- Ecology, vol. 3. Ecology Institute, Oldendorf/Luhe, Germany.
- Likens, G.E., 2001. Ecosystems: energetics and biogeochemistry. In: Kress, W.J., Barrett, G.W. (Eds.), A New Century of Biology. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington, DC, pp. 53-88.
- Likens, G.E., 2007. Surprises from long-term studies at the Hubbard Brook Experimental Forest, USA. In: A Better Future for the Planet Earth. Commemorative Book for Blue Planet Prize Winners, vol. III. Asahi Glass Foundation, Tokyo, Japan, pp. 68-77.
- Likens, G.E., Walker, K., Davies, P., Brookes, J., Olley, J., Young, W., Thoms, M., Lake, S., Gawne, B., Davis, J., Arthington, A., Thompson, R., Oliver, R., 2009. Ecosystem science: toward a new paradigm for managing Australia's inland aquatic ecosystems. Marine Freshwater Res. 60, 271-279.
- Lindenmayer, D.B., Burgman, M.A., 2005. Practical Conservation Biology. CSIRO Publishing, Melbourne.
- Lindenmayer, D.B., Franklin, J.F., 2002. Conserving Forest Biodiversity: A Comprehensive Multiscaled Approach. Island Press, Washington, DC.
- Lindenmayer, D.B., Likens, G., 2009. Adaptive monitoring a new paradigm for long-term studies and monitoring. Trends Ecol. Evol. 24, 482-486.
- Lindenmayer, D.B., Likens, G.E., 2010. Monitoring for Ecological Knowledge. CSIRO Publishing, Melbourne.
- Lindenmayer, D.B., Hobbs, R., Montague-Drake, R., Alexandra, J., Bennett, A., Burgman, M., Cale, P., Calhoun, A., Cramer, V., Cullen, P., Driscoll, D., Fahrig, L., Barginan, M., Gale, F., Gahlou, A., Chantel, V., Curten, F., Dirscon, J., Hanley, E., Fischer, J., Franklin, J., Haila, Y., Hunter, M., Gibbons, P., Lake, S., Luck, G., McIntyre, S., Mac Nally, R., Manning, A., Miller, J., Mooney, H., Noss, R., Possingham, H., Saunders, D., Schmiegelow, F., Scott, M., Simberloff, D., Sisk, T., Walker, B., Wiens, J., Woinarski, J., Zavaleta, E., 2007. A checklist for ecological management of landscapes for conservation. Ecol. Lett. 10, 1-14.
- Lindenmayer, D.B., Cunningham, R.B., McGregor, C., Crane, M., Michael, D., Montague-Drake, R., Fischer, J., Felton, A., Manning, A., 2008. The changing nature of bird populations in woodland remnants as a pine plantation emerges: results from a large-scale "natural experiment" of landscape context effects. Ecol. Mono. 78, 567-590.
- Lovett, G.M., Burns, D.A., Driscoll, C.T., Jenkins, J.C., Mitchell, M.J., Rustad, L., Shanley, J.B., Likens, G.E., Haeuber, R., 2007. Who needs environmental monitoring? Front. Ecol. Environ. 5, 253–260.
- Lund, J., 1978. Changes in the phytoplankton of an English lake, 1945-1977. Hydrobiol, J. 14, 10-27.
- Martin, J., Kitchens, W.M., Hines, J.E., 2007. Importance of well-designed monitoring programs for the conservation of endangered species: case study of the Snail Kite. Conserv. Biol. 21, 472-481.
- Martins, S., Sanderson, J.G., Silva-Junior, J., 2007. Monitoring mammals in the Caxiuana National Forest, Brazil - first results from the Tropical Ecology, Assessment and Monitoring (TEAM) program. Biodivers. Conserv. 16, 857-870.
- McAlpine, C.A., Lindenmayer, D.B., Eyre, T.J., Phinn, S.R., 2002. Landscape surrogates of forest fragmentation: synthesis of Australian Montreal Process case studies. Pacific Conserv. Biol. 8, 108-120.
- McDonald, E., Gordon, A., Wintle, B.A., Walker, S., Grantham, H., Carvalho, S., Bottrill, M., Joseph, L., Ponce, R., Stewart, R., Possingham, H.P., 2008. "True" conservation progress. Science 323, 43-44.
- McLaren, M.A., Thompson, I.D., Baker, J.A., 1998. Selection of vertebrate wildlife indicators for monitoring sustainable forest management in Ontario. Forest. Chron. 74, 241-248.
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005. Millennium Ecosystem Assessment Synthesis Report. <http://www.millenniumassessment.org> (accessed 08.10.09).
- Nichols, J.D., Williams, B.K., 2006. Monitoring for conservation. Trends Ecol. Evol. 21, 668-673
- Nielsen, S.E., Bayne, E.M., Schieck, J., Herbers, J., Boutin, S., 2007. A new method to estimate species and biodiversity intactness using empirically derived reference conditions. Biol. Conserv. 137, 403-414.
- Norton, D.A., 1996. Monitoring biodiversity in New Zealand's terrestrial ecosystems. In: McFadgen, B., Simpson, S. (Eds.), Papers from a Seminar Series on Biodiversity. Department of Conservation, Wellington, New Zealand, pp. 19-41.
- O'Neill, G., 2008. Jump-starting environmental monitoring. Ecos 143, 14-17.
- ians, G.H., 1986. The place of science in environmental problem-solving. Environment 28 (12–17), 38–41.

ARTICLE IN PRESS

D.B. Lindenmayer, G.E. Likens/Biological Conservation xxx (2010) xxx-xxx

- Pellet, J., Schmidt, B.R., 2005. Monitoring distribution using call surveys: estimating occupancy, detection probabilities and inferring absence. Biol. Conserv. 123, 27–35.
- Persson, I.-L., Nilsson, M.B., Pastor, J., Eriksson, T., Bergström, R., Danell, K., 2009. Depression of belowground respiration rates at simulated high moose population densities in boreal forests. Ecology 90, 2724–2733.
- Peters, R.H., 1991. A Critique for Ecology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Pielke, R.A., 2007. The Honest Broker: Making Sense of Science in Policy and Politics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England.
- Reed, J.M., Blaustein, A.R., 1995. Assessment of 'nondeclining' amphibian populations using power analysis. Conserv. Biol. 9, 1299–1300.
- Rothamsted Research, 2006. Guide to Classical and Other Long-term Experiments, Datasets and Sample Archive. Lawes Agricultural Trust, Bury St. Edmunds, England.
- Ringold, P.L., Alegria, J., Czaplwski, R.L., Mulder, B.S., Tolle, T., Burnett, K., 1996. Adaptive monitoring design for ecosystem management. Ecol. Appl. 6, 745–747.
- Roberts, K.A., 1991. Field monitoring: confessions of an addict. In: Goldsmith, F.B. (Ed.), Monitoring for Conservation and Ecology. Chapman and Hall, London, pp. 179–212.
- Russell-Smith, J., Whitehead, P.J., Cook, G.D., Hoare, J.L., 2003. Response of Eucalyptus-dominated savanna to frequent fires: lessons from Munmarlary 1973–1996. Ecol. Mono. 73, 349–375.
- Schindler, D.W., Mills, K.H., Malley, D.F., Findlay, D.L., Shearer, J.A., Davies, I.J., Turner, M.A., Linsey, G.A., Cruikshank, D.R., 1985. Long-term ecosystem stress: the effects of years of experimental acidification on a small lake. Science 228, 1395–1401.
- Shrader-Frechette, K.S., McCoy, E.D., 1993. Method in Ecology: Strategies for Conservation. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Smith, T.B., Purcell, J., Barino, J.F., 2007. The rocky intertidal biota of the Florida Keys: fifty-two years of change after Stephenson and Stephenson (1950). Bull. Marine Sci. 80, 1–19.
- Sparrow, H.R., Sisk, T.D., Ehrlich, P.R., Murphy, D.D., 1994. Techniques and guidelines for monitoring neotropical butterflies. Conserv. Biol. 8, 800–809.
- Spellerberg, I.F., 1994. Monitoring Ecological Change, second ed. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Stankey, G.H., Bormann, B.T., Ryan, C., Shindler, B., Sturtevant, V., Clark, R.N., Philpot, C., 2003. Adaptive management and the Northwest Forest Plan – rhetoric and reality. J. Forest. 101, 40–46.
- Steffen, W., Burbidge, A., Hughes, L., Lindenmayer, D.B., Musgrave, W., Stafford-Smith, M., Werner, P., 2009. Climate Change and Biodiversity: An Adaptation Response for Australia. CSIRO Publishing, Melbourne.
- Stelzer, R.S., Likens, G.E., 2006. Effects of sampling frequency on estimates of dissolved silica export by streams: the role of hydrological variability and concentration-discharge relationships. Water Resour. Res. 42, 1–10.
- Strayer, D.L., 1999. Statistical power of presence-absence data to detect population deciles. Conserv. Biol. 13, 1034-1038.

- Strayer, D.L., Glitzenstein, J.S., Jones, C., Kolasa, J., Likens, G.E., McDonnell, M., Parker, G.G., Pickett, S.T.A., 1986. Long-term ecological studies: an illustrated account of their design, operation, and importance to ecology. Occasional Publication of the Institute of Ecosystem Studies, vol. 2. Institute of Ecosystem Studies, Millbrook, New York, pp. 1–38.
- The Heinz Center, 2008. The State of the Nation's Ecosystems 2008. The H. John Heinz III Center for Science, Economics and the Environment and Island Press, Washington, DC.
- Thompson, W.L., White, G.C., Gowan, C., 1998. Monitoring Vertebrate Populations. Academic Press, London.
- Lawes Agricultural Trust, 1984. Rothamsted: The Classical Experiments. Rothamsted Agricultural Experiment Station, Rothamsted, England.
- United Nations Environment Program (UNEP), 1999. Global Environmental Outlook 2000. United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi, Kenya.
- Van Horne, B., Wiens, J.A., 1991. Forest bird habitat suitability models and the development of general habitat models. In: Fisheries and Wildlife Research Report No. 8. US Fish and Wildlife Service, Washington, DC, pp. 1–31.
- Walters, C.J., 1986. Adaptive Management of Renewable Resources. Macmillan Publishing Company, New York.
- Walters, C., 1992. Study designs for biodiversity monitoring and research. In: Ramsay, L. (Ed.), Methodology for Monitoring Wildlife Diversity in B.C. Forests. Proceedings of a Workshop. British Columbia Environment, Surrey, British Columbia, pp. 1–5.
- Walters, C.J., Holling, C.S., 1990. Large scale management experiments and learning by doing. Ecology 71, 2060–2068.
- Ward, R.C., Loftis, J.C., McBride, G.B., 1986. The "data-rich but information-poor" syndrome in water quality monitoring, Environ. Manage. 10, 291–297.
- Welsh, A.H., Cunningham, R.B., Chambers, R.L., 2000. Methodology for estimating the abundance of rare animals: seabird nesting on North East Herald Cay. Biometrics 56, 22–30.
- Wentworth Group, 2008. Accounting for Nature. A Model for Building the National Environmental Accounts of Australia. Wentworth Group of Concerned Scientists, Sydney.
- Whelan, R.J., 1995. The Ecology of Fire. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Williams, B.K., Johnson, F.A., 1995. Adaptive management and the regulation of waterfowl harvests. Wildlife Soc. Bull. 23, 430–436.
- Woodward, A., Jenkins, K., Schreiner, E.G., 1999. The role of ecological theory in long-term monitoring: report on a workshop. Nat. Areas J. 19, 223–233.
- Yoccoz, N.G., Nichols, J.D., Boulinier, T., 2001. Monitoring of biological diversity in space and time. Trends Ecol. Evol. 16, 446–453.
- Zeide, B., 1994. Big projects, big problems. Environ. Monit. Assess. 33, 115-133.
- Zhan, X., Li, M.Y., Zhang, Z., Goossens, B., Chen, Y., Wang, H., Bruford, M., Wei, F., 2006. Molecular censusing doubles giant panda population estimate in a key nature reserve. Curr. Biol. 16, R451–R452.